
Woodbury County Board of Adjustment Meeting Agenda - Page 1 of 2 

WOODBURY COUNTY 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

Monday, July 7, 2025 at 5:00 PM 
The Woodbury County Board of Adjustment will hold a public meeting on Monday, July 7, 2025 at 5:00 PM in the 
Board of Supervisors’ meeting room in the Basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse, 620 Douglas Street, 
Sioux City, IA.  Please use the 7th St. entrance.  Public access to the conversation of the meeting will also be 
made available during the meeting by telephone. Persons wanting to participate in the public meeting may attend 
in person or call: (712) 454-1133 and enter the Conference ID: 742 346 123# during the meeting to listen or 
comment.  It is recommended to attend in person as there is the possibility for technical difficulties with phone and 
computer systems. 

AGENDA

1 CALL TO ORDER 

2 ROLL CALL 

3 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA (INFORMATION ITEM) 

4 APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MEETING MINUTES (ACTION ITEM) 

5 ITEM(S) OF ACTION / BUSINESS 

» PUBLIC HEARING: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION (ACTION ITEM) FOR 
FIELD FOR COMPETITIVE ATHLETIC (BASEBALL FIELD FOR MORNINGSIDE 
UNIVERSITY) (PARCEL #884714300005) (ACTION ITEM).  

SUMMARY: Jason Reynoldson (Applicant) on behalf of Morningside University (Owner) has submitted a conditional use permit application 
to construct and operate a baseball stadium (field for competitive athletic) on the property identified as Parcel #884714300005.  The facility 
will provide a dedicated space for organized sports, supporting health and wellness, community spirit, and opportunities for youth and adult 
leagues. The project's design will minimize environmental impact, incorporating features such as permeable surfaces, native landscaping, 
and noise/light control strategies. The development will also attract visitors, promote local businesses, and provide a gathering space for 
events, fostering economic growth and social interaction. The property is in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District, where “fields 
for competitive athletic” are a conditional use under Section 3.03.4 of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, subject to review by the 
Zoning Commission and approval by the Board of Adjustment. The property is located in T88N R47W (Woodbury Township), Section 14. 
SW ¼ of the SW ¼. The property abuts and is located south of Old Highway 141 and east of Buchanan Avenue and north of County Home 
Road just north of 1600 County Home Road, Sergeant Bluff, IA 51054. Owners/Applicants: Morningside University (Owner),1501 
Morningside Ave., Sioux City, IA 51106. / Jason Reynoldson (Applicant), 3600 Garretson Ave., Sioux City, IA 51106.

» PUBLIC HEARING: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION: FROM KEVIN HEISS 
(APPLICANT) OF RENT PROPERTIES LLC (OWNER) TO CONSTRUCT AND OPERATE AN 
OFF-PREMISE 14’ X 48’ LED BILLBOARD (DOUBLE-SIDED) ON PARCEL #884606100002 
(ACTION ITEM).  

SUMMARY: Kevin Heiss, representing Rent Properties LLC, has submitted a conditional use permit (CUP) application to construct and 
operate a 14’ x 48’ LED billboard (double-sided) for off-premise advertising. The property is located in the N 2/3 of the N 1/2 of the NW 1/4, 
Section 6, Township 88N, Range 46W (Floyd Township), identified as Parcel 884606100002. It is proposed to be situated along the south 
side of Highway 20 and the east side of Charles Avenue.  The property is in the General Commercial (GC) Zoning District, where “off-
premise advertising signs (e.g. Billboards)” are classified as a conditional use under Section 3.03.4 and Section 5.02.8 of the Woodbury 
County Zoning Ordinance, subject to review by the Zoning Commission and approval by the Board of Adjustment.  The property abuts and is 
located south of Highway 20 and east of Charles Avenue which is east of the property addressed at 1605 Charles Avenue, Lawton, IA 
51030.  Owner/Applicant: Kevin Heiss/Rent Properties, 204 Buckeye Circle, Lawton, IA 51030.

1



Woodbury County Board of Adjustment Meeting Agenda - Page 2 of 2 

» PUBLIC HEARING: VARIANCE APPLICATION FROM KEVIN MORTON, 108 BIGELOW 
PARK ROAD, SALIX, IA 51052 FOR A SETBACK REDUCTION REQUEST ON PARCEL 
#874733376005 (ACTION ITEM).

SUMMARY: Kevin Morton, at 108 Bigelow Park Road, Salix, IA 51052, seeks approval to construct a new garage behind an existing garage 
that is requested to be set back four (4) feet from the existing garage. The property owner has filed this variance application to seek relief 
from Section 4.12.5 of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance pertaining to “Accessory Buildings” which states “5. Detached accessory 
structures shall not be located closer to any other accessory or principal building than ten feet” (p. 46). The proposed garage size is 
approximately 24’ x 16’ and subject to changes. The property is located on a 0.44 acre lot identified as Parcel #874733376005 and is 
identified as Lot 5 in Block 1 in the Galland’s Lakeview Second Sub-Division in Section 33 in T87N R47W (Liberty Township) and in the 
Suburban Residential (SR) Zoning District. The property abuts and is located on the south side of Bigelow Park Road and west of 275th 
Street. Owner/Applicant: Kevin L. Morton, 108 Bigelow Park Rd., Salix, IA 51052. 

6 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA (INFORMATION ITEM) 

7 STAFF UPDATE (INFORMATION ITEM) 

8 BOARD MEMBER COMMENT OR INQUIRY (INFORMATION ITEM) 

9 ADJOURN (ACTION ITEM) 

2



PACKET CONTENTS 

PREVIOUS MEETING MINUTES – DRAFT 

PUBLIC HEARING: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT (ACTION ITEM) FOR FIELD 
FOR COMPETITIVE ATHLETIC (BASEBALL FIELD FOR MORNINGSIDE 
UNIVERSITY) (PARCEL #884714300005) (ACTION ITEM).  

PUBLIC HEARING: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION: FROM KEVIN 
HEISS (APPLICANT) OF RENT PROPERTIES LLC (OWNER) TO CONSTRUCT 
AND OPERATE AN OFF-PREMISE 14’ X 48’ LED BILLBOARD (DOUBLE-SIDED) 
ON PARCEL #884606100002 (ACTION ITEM). 

PUBLIC HEARING: VARIANCE APPLICATION FROM KEVIN MORTON, 108 
BIGELOW PARK ROAD, SALIX, IA 51052 FOR A SETBACK REDUCTION 
REQUEST ON PARCEL #874733376005 (ACTION ITEM). 

4

8

68

120

3



1 

Minutes - Woodbury County Board of Adjustment – June 2, 2025 

The Board of Adjustment convened on the 2nd day of June 2025 at 5:00 PM in the Board of Supervisors’ meeting 
room in the Basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse.  The meeting was also made available for public 
access via teleconference.   

Meeting Audio: 
For specific content of this meeting, refer to the recorded video on the Woodbury County Board of Adjustment 
“Committee Page” on the Woodbury County website: 

- County Website Link: 
o https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/committees/board_of_adjustment/ 

- YouTube Direct Link: 
o  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ood2zFzS74w 

BA Members Present: Daniel Hair, Doyle Turner, Pam Clark, Tom Thiesen, Larry Fillipi 
County Staff Present:   Dan Priestley, Dawn Norton 
Public Present: Jason Reynoldson, Debra De Forrest, James McCullough, Chad Hofer, 

Kirby Eli, Jeaneen Eli, Lew Fillipi, Jeanette Frey, Jim Sykes, Vonda 
Anfinson 

CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Daniel Hair called the meeting to order at 5:06 PM. 

ROLL CALL 
Chair Hair noted that all members were present except Doyle Turner, who was expected to arrive shortly. The 
meeting was audio-recorded, and attendees were asked to silence cell phones and sign the attendance sheet. 
Chair Hair outlined the procedures for the meeting, including public hearing processes, public comment protocols, 
and the board’s deliberation and voting process.  

PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
No public comments were made on matters not listed on the agenda. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
The minutes of the March 3, 2025, meeting were approved. Motion by Clark, second by Thiesen. Motion carried 
unanimously (5-0). 

PUBLIC HEARING - CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR COMPETITIVE ATHLETIC FIELD (BASEBALL FIELD 
FOR MORNINGSIDE UNIVERSITY, PARCEL #884714300005) (ACTION ITEM) 
Chair Hair opened the public hearing. Dan Priestley presented the staff report, summarizing the application by 
Jason Reynoldson on behalf of Morningside University to construct and operate a baseball field on Parcel 
#884714300005 in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District. The proposed facility aims to support 
organized sports, health, wellness, and community engagement, with features like permeable surfaces, native 
landscaping, and noise/light control to minimize environmental impact. The Zoning Commission reviewed the 
proposal on May 28, 2025, with a 4-0 vote in favor, noting public concerns about traffic, event scheduling, noise, 
light disturbance, water usage, and alcohol policies. The proposal meets zoning and site plan requirements but 
requires Board of Adjustment approval as a conditional use under Section 3.03.4 of the Woodbury County Zoning 
Ordinance. 

Applicant Presentation 
Jason Reynoldson provided an overview, stating the field is primarily for Morningside University’s baseball team, 
with potential use for youth camps and tournaments. The season would span March to April (approximately six 
weeks), with about 50 games annually, including 15-17 home dates, often as doubleheaders. Games typically last 
2-3 hours, with preferred start times around 5:00 PM, ending by 10:00 PM to accommodate student schedules. The 
initial project excludes lights, but future phases may include them, oriented to minimize impact. Parking is planned 
on the west and south sides to avoid road parking, and student workers would manage traffic flow. A PA system 
and walk-up music are planned, with efforts to control noise. Alcohol would be prohibited, with signage and security 

4



2

enforcement.  Team practices would also be done at the field during season and off-season.  Double Header start 
times could be moved to begin earlier. Parking lot would be monitored to prevent alcohol use. 

Public Comments 
 Debra De Forrest: Expressed concerns about sourcing dirt for the field, suggesting it might come from 

nearby property, and raised issues about alcohol use and game duration potentially extending past 10:00 
PM, citing local baseball games running late. 

 James McCullough: Noted increased traffic on 141 due to nearby apartments (240-720 additional vehicles 
daily), emphasizing safety concerns with no turning lanes and high-speed traffic (50-60 mph). Suggested 
collaboration with the county engineer for traffic solutions. 

 Chad Hofer: Generally was okay with the project but stressed enforcing a 10:00 PM closure to avoid 
disturbances, citing a past incident at the nearby county home range. Raised concerns about light spillage 
into his property and traffic safety, particularly at the 141/Buchanan Avenue intersection due to poor line of 
sight. 

Public Hearing Closure 
The public hearing was closed with a motion by Turner and a second by Clark.  Motion carried unanimously (5-0). 

Board Discussion 
The board discussed traffic safety, noise, lighting, dust from nearby agricultural trucks, and time restrictions. Key 
concerns included: 

 Traffic Safety: The lack of turning lanes on 141 and poor line of sight at intersections, exacerbated by 
existing apartment traffic and potential game-related traffic (100-200 attendees per game). 

 Noise and Lighting: Uncertainty about decibel levels and light orientation, with no county ordinance 
specifying decibel limits in unincorporated areas. 

 Time Restrictions: Challenges in enforcing a 10:00 PM closure due to variable game lengths. 
 Dust Control: Dust from trucks on Buchanan Avenue during planting season, impacting air quality and 

visibility. 
 Construction Timeline: Morningside aims to start construction to have the field ready for the 2026 spring 

season. 

The board felt insufficient information was available to make a decision, particularly regarding traffic mitigation, 
noise control, and dust management. They suggested Morningside consult the county engineer for traffic solutions 
and provide a detailed business plan addressing these concerns. 

Action 
 Motion: Chair Hair moved to table the conditional use permit application until the next meeting (July 2025) 

to allow Morningside University to provide clarification on their business plan, including surface water 
runoff, decibel levels, alcohol policy, dust control, light mitigation, and safe traffic flow to protect public 
health, welfare, safety, etc. 

 Second: Pam Clark. 
 Discussion: None. 
 Vote: Unanimous in favor (ayes). 
 Outcome: Motion carried; application tabled. Staff was directed to work with Morningside to address 

concerns and prepare for a new public hearing in July. 

PUBLIC HEARING - VARIANCE REQUEST - ACCESSORY STRUCTURE PRIOR TO PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE 
(KIRBY AND JANINE ELI, PARCEL #894214400004) (ACTION ITEM) 
Dan Priestley reported a minor error in the letter and legal public notice in the newspaper (incorrect section number: 
listed as 21, should be 14), but confirmed substantial compliance with notification requirements, as letters were 
sent to property owners within 500 feet, and the correct parcel number and deed reference were included in both 
the legal notice and letter which retained context.  

Chairman Hair opened the public hearing. Priestley introduced the variance.  The applicants, Kirby and Janine Eli, 
seek to build a 40x60 accessory shed before completing their principal residence on an 11.77-acre parcel in Union 
Township. They plan to start foundations for both structures simultaneously but prioritize the shed for storing 
materials and tools during construction, as they will live in a camper on-site. The shed would be enclosed by winter, 

5



3

with the house construction to follow. Staff recommended approval, citing practical difficulty and the applicants’ 
commitment to building both structures. 

Applicant Presentation 
Kirby Eli confirmed the plan to build both foundations concurrently, live in a camper, and use the shed for storage 
during construction. The shed’s completion would support their retirement project, and their presence on-site would 
aid maintenance of adjacent family-owned property. 

Public Comments 
No public comments were received. 

Public Hearing Closure 
The public hearing was closed with a motion by Turner and a second by Thiesen.  Motion carried unanimously (5-
0). 

Board Discussion 
The board found the request straightforward, noting similar variances approved in the past. The simultaneous 
foundation work and the applicants’ clear plan addressed concerns about ensuring the principal structure’s 
completion. Recent state legislation (House File 652) was noted, which emphasizes practical difficulty over financial 
hardship, supporting the variance. 

Action 
 Motion: Pam Clark moved to approve the variance, noting substantial compliance with public notice 

requirements. 
 Second: Doyle Turner. 
 Discussion: None. 
 Vote: Unanimous in favor (ayes). 
 Outcome: Motion carried; variance approved. The applicants were informed that building permits could be 

issued, valid for one year with renewal options. 

ACCESSORY SECOND DWELLINGS - SENATE FILE 592 (INFORMATION ITEM) 
Dan Priestley briefed the board on Senate File 592, signed by Governor Reynolds on May 1, 2025, amending Iowa 
Code Section 331.301. Key points:

 Counties must allow at least one accessory dwelling unit (ADU) on lots with a single-family residence, 
subject to state building codes and a size limit of 1,000 square feet or 50% of the primary residence’s size, 
whichever is larger. 

 ADUs cannot face stricter regulations than single-family homes regarding setbacks, height, or aesthetics. 
 ADU permits must be approved administratively without public hearings, streamlining the process. 
 Counties cannot require ADUs to be tied to specific uses (e.g., family or workers), voiding conflicting 

ordinances. 
 Strategic placement of ADUs was advised to facilitate future lot splits and maintain property value, with 

considerations for wells, septic systems, and driveway access. 

The board discussed potential challenges, such as increased driveway density on farm-to-market roads and the 
need for county engineer input on access safety. No action was required, as this was an information item. 

VARIANCE LEGISLATION UPDATE (INFORMATION ITEM) 
Dan Priestley updated the board on House File 652, which expands variance authority under Iowa Code Sections 
335.15 and 414.12. The legislation shifts focus from economic hardship to practical difficulty, allowing more 
flexibility for setbacks and dimensional requirements. Applicants must prove the difficulty is unique and not self-
created, and the variance must not alter the neighborhood’s character. The board noted this aligns with their criteria 
and supports reasonable development. No action was required. 

NUCLEAR ENERGY FACILITY DISCUSSION (INFORMATION ITEM) 
Dan Priestley reported on the Zoning Commission’s discussions on nuclear energy facilities. The commission is 
exploring defining nuclear facilities in the zoning ordinance to address permitting proactively, balancing flexibility 

6



4

with clear definitions. Assistant County Attorney Joshua Widman advised enumerating nuclear facilities separately 
from general electrical energy generation to strengthen legal defensibility. A proposed 10-mile notification radius for 
nuclear projects was discussed, compared to the standard 500 feet for most conditional uses. Recent federal 
executive orders aim to streamline nuclear permitting, and the county is monitoring these developments. Public 
engagement remains low, but the commission aims to recommend ordinance changes to the Board of Supervisors. 
No action was required.

BORROW PIT ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (INFORMATION ITEM) 
Dan Priestley discussed a proposed amendment to allow conditional use permits for borrow pits in the Agricultural 
Estates (AE) Zoning District, aligning it with the Agricultural Preservation (AP) District. Currently, borrow pits are 
prohibited in AE, despite similar land use characteristics. The amendment addresses practical needs for 
landowners to remove and sell dirt, especially for non-farmers, while ensuring public notification due to impacts like 
noise and traffic. The Zoning Commission voted 4-0 to recommend the amendment to the Board of Supervisors, 
with public hearings planned. No action was required.

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA. 
Chairperson Hair reopened public comment on non-agenda matters. No comments. 

STAFF UPDATE 
Dan Priestley urged the board to monitor upcoming Board of Supervisors’ discussions on nuclear facilities and 
borrow pits, emphasizing ongoing zoning issues and encouraging communication. 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENT OR INQUIRY 
Chair Hair invited board member comments or inquiries. None. 

MOTION TO ADJOURN
 Motion: Tom Thiesen moved to adjourn. 
 Second: Doyle Turner. 
 Vote: Unanimous in favor (ayes). 
 Outcome: Meeting adjourned at an unspecified time. 

The meeting ended at 7:08 PM  

7



1

WOODBURY COUNTY PLANNING & ZONING
620 Douglas Street, Sixth Floor, Sioux City, Iowa 51101

712.279.6609 – 712.279.6530 (Fax)
Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator                                        Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk

dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov

FOLLOW-UP REPORT – JULY 3, 2025
BASEBALL STADIUM (FIELD FOR COMPETITIVE ATHLETIC) – CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT PROPOSAL

APPLICATION DETAILS
Applicant(s)/Owner(s): Jason Reynoldson (Applicant) 

/ Morningside University
Application Type: Conditional Use Permit
Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation (AP)
Total Acres: 13.4
Current Use: Agricultural, Farm
Proposed Use: Baseball Stadium
Pre-application Meeting: March 14, 2025
Application Date: April 29, 2025
Legal Notice Date: May 17, 2025 & June 21, 2025
Neighbor(s) Notice Date: May 15, 2025 & June 19, 2025
Stakeholder(s) Notice 
Date:

Thursday, May 1, 2025

Zoning Commission 
Review:

Wednesday, May 28, 2025

Board of Adjustment 
Public Hearing(s):

June 2, 2025, July 7, 2025

PROPERTY DETAILS
Parcel(s): 884714300005
Township/Range: T88N R47W (Woodbury)
Section: 14
Quarter: SW ¼ of the SW ¼
Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation (AP)
Floodplain: Zone X (Not in Floodplain)
Property 
Address:

TBD

CONTENTS
Summary
Aerial Map / Site Plan 
Excerpt
Review Requirements
Review Criteria
Application Materials
Legal Notification
Public Comments
Stakeholder Comments
Supporting Information
Additional Materials 
following first public hearing

SUMMARY
Jason Reynoldson (Applicant) on behalf of Morningside University (Owner) has submitted a conditional use permit application to 
construct and operate a baseball stadium (field for competitive athletic) on the property identified as Parcel #884714300005 and 
referenced above.  The facility will provide a dedicated space for organized sports, supporting health and wellness, community spirit, 
and opportunities for youth and adult leagues. The project's design will minimize environmental impact, incorporating features such as 
permeable surfaces, native landscaping, and noise/light control strategies. The development will also attract visitors, promote local 
businesses, and provide a gathering space for events, fostering economic growth and social interaction. The property is in the 
Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District, where “fields for competitive athletic” are a conditional use under Section 3.03.4 of the 
Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, subject to review by the Zoning Commission and approval by the Board of Adjustment. The 
proposal was advertised in the Sioux City Journal’s legal section on May 17, 2025 and June 21, 2025. Neighbors within 500 feet were 
notified via a May 15, 2025 and June 19, 2025 letter about the Board of Adjustment public hearing on May 2, 2025 and July 7, 2025, 
respectively. Relevant stakeholders, including government agencies, utilities, and organizations, have been invited to provide 
comments. Based on the information provided this proposal can meet the zoning ordinance regulations.  The Zoning Commission 
reviewed the application at their May 28, 2025 meeting and recommended approval following public testimony on a 4-0 vote. Several 
members of the public addressed the Commission and brought up topics not limited to traffic, event scheduling/time limitations, noise 
and light disturbance, water usage and well impact, intended property use, alcohol use, etc. The Commission recommends the 
proposal and states that these concepts should be considered for potential conditions.  See enclosed Zoning Commission 
recommendation letter and draft meeting minutes. Following the initial Board of Adjustment public hearing, the matter was tabled to this 
month’s meeting for further clarification from Morningside College about numerous items not limited to traffic management and safety, 
noise control, lighting, time restrictions, dust control, alcohol policy, surface water runoff, construction timeline, and facility use and 
management.  The Board of Adjustment will conduct the follow-up public hearing on July 7, 2025 at 5:00 PM.  

AERIAL MAP SITE PLAN EXCERPT

8



2 

ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION

9



3 10



4 11



5 12



6 13



7 14



8 15



9 16



10

ZONING ORDINANCE CRITERIA FOR BOARD APPROVAL

Conditional Use Permits are determined by a review of the following criteria by the Zoning Commission (ZC) and Board of Adjustment 
(BOA).  The ZC makes a recommendation to the BOA which will decide following a public hearing before the Board.

APPLICANT’S DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE:

Transforming Agricultural Land into a Thriving Community Hub: The Future Baseball Field Project
The proposed baseball field is an exciting opportunity to bring a high-quality recreational facility to the community while respecting the agricultural 
character of the land. This project is not just about constructing a field—it’s about fostering engagement, promoting sustainable development, and 
contributing to the local economy.

Why This Project Works
 Strategic Use of Land: While zoned under Agricultural Preservation (AP), the field qualifies as a conditional use per Woodbury County’s 

zoning ordinance. This ensures that the project aligns with established land-use regulations.
 Enhancing Community Recreation: A dedicated space for organized sports supports health and wellness, builds community spirit, and 

provides opportunities for youth and adult leagues to thrive.
 Economic & Social Benefits: The facility will attract visitors, promote local businesses, and provide a gathering space for events, fostering 

economic growth and social interaction.
 Sustainable & Responsible Development: Thoughtful planning will minimize environmental impact, integrating features like permeable 

surfaces for storm water management, native landscaping, and noise/light control strategies.

Commitment to Compatibility & Preservation
 Minimal Disruption: The project will be designed to complement surrounding agricultural land, preserving open space and ensuring minimal 

interference with adjacent properties.
 Traffic & Infrastructure Planning: Proper road access, parking solutions, and traffic management strategies will keep congestion under 

control while maintaining a seamless flow for visitors.
 Environmental Stewardship: Incorporating eco-friendly practices and maintaining scenic integrity ensure that the area’s natural beauty 

remains untouched.
 Public Interest & Accessibility: Essential facilities—such as restrooms, concessions, emergency services access, and waste 

management—will ensure smooth operation while serving community needs.
This baseball field is more than just a sports venue for Morningside University, it’s a vision for progress, community connection, and responsible 
development. By balancing recreational opportunities with zoning compliance, environmental integrity, and thoughtful planning, this project will serve as a 
positive addition to the local landscape while staying true to agricultural preservation values.

Current Permit Applications – Baseball Field Development
We are actively working with Bacon Creek Design, with Doug Rose leading the architectural efforts for the project. As part of the permitting process:

 The Notice of Intent has been initiated and will be published in the Sioux City Journal on May 6, 2025.
 A topographical survey is currently underway to support the Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP).
 Upon completion, Doug Rose will submit the SWPPP plan along with the General Permit No. 2 application to the Department of Natural 

Resources (DNR), ensuring compliance with required environmental regulations.
 Coordination with the County Engineer’s Office has been conducted to approve driveway access to the property. Discussions with Laura 

Seivers and Jacob Gilreath have confirmed alignment with county requirements.
 The application for a rural address has been submitted, and the associated fee has been paid.
 A Building Permit has been filed in advance to streamline the development process.

These steps ensure compliance with zoning and regulatory standards while facilitating a smooth progression of the project.

MAP DRAWN TO SCALE, SHOWING THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, ALL STRUCTURES AND OTHER IMPROVEMENTS, WITH THE 
PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE IDNTIFIED PER STRUCTURE OF IMPROVEMENT, PROVID BY ATTACHMENT

See attached plans

CRITERIA 1: The conditional use requested is authorized as a conditional use in the zoning district within which the property is located 
and that any specific conditions or standards described as part of that authorization have been or will be satisfied (Woodbury County 
Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9).

APPLICANT RESPONSE:

 The parcel in question is currently zoned as Agricultural Preservation (AP). According to Section 4 of the Zoning Ordinance of Woodbury 
County, titled "Institutional Uses," fields designated for competition are included as a conditional use. Additionally, the ordinance specifies the 
required conditions and standards, which have been reviewed and deemed to be satisfied.

17



11 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The Land Use Summary Table (Section 3.03.4) of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance includes the Agricultural Preservation (AP) 
Zoning District as a location authorized for a conditional use pending review by the Zoning Commission and approval by the Board of 
Adjustment.     

CRITERIA 2: The proposed use and development will be in harmony with the general purpose and intent of this ordinance and the 
goals, objectives and standards of the general plan (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

Community Recreation: Providing space for organized sports and recreational activities aligns with fostering community engagement, physical well-
being, and healthy lifestyles, which may be goals outlined in the general plan. 

Efficient Land Use: The development of a baseball field could utilize land that might not be viable for intensive agricultural use, while still maintaining 
open space, which can be in harmony with preservation objectives. 

Economic and Social Benefits: By creating a venue for local sports events, the field may attract visitors and generate economic activity, supporting the 
broader objectives of community development. 

Compatibility with Existing Land Use: If designed thoughtfully, the baseball field could complement surrounding areas and maintain an aesthetic that 
aligns with AP zoning, minimizing disruption and enhancing the area's value. 

Promoting Environmental Stewardship: Sustainable design practices, such as using eco-friendly materials or preserving adjacent natural habitats, could 
align the development with environmental goals of the general plan. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The proposed baseball field appears to be compatible with the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan 2040, as it can adhere to 
zoning regulations and conditional use standards. It corresponds with the ordinance by promoting community welfare and orderly development, and it 
supports the Comprehensive Plan’s goals by enhancing recreational facilities, supporting economic growth, and ensuring compatible land use.  Following 
the Zoning Commission review session, some neighbors offered concerns that are reflected in the minutes and Zoning Commission audio that could be 
considered for potential conditions. These themes are not limited to traffic, event scheduling/time limitations, noise and light disturbance, water usage and 
well impact, intended property use, alcohol use, etc. 

(https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/community_economic_development/woodbury_county_comprehensive_plan_2040_89417.pdf ) 

CRITERIA 3: The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue adverse effect upon adjacent property, the 
character of the neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking, utility facilities, and other factors affecting the public health, safety and 
general welfare (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

Environmental Impact Assessment: Conduct a thorough study to identify potential impacts on soil, water, and local ecosystems. This helps in 
designing measures to mitigate harm. 

Community Engagement: Involve local residents and stakeholders early in the planning process. Their input can help address concerns about noise, 
traffic, and other disruptions 
Sustainable Design: Incorporate eco-friendly practices, such as using permeable materials for parking lots to reduce water runoff and planting native 
vegetation to support biodiversity. 

Traffic Management: Develop a plan to handle increased traffic, including adequate parking and safe access routes, to minimize disruption to the 
surrounding area. 

Noise and Light Control: Use sound barriers and strategically placed lighting to reduce noise and light pollution, ensuring minimal disturbance to nearby 
residents and wildlife. 

Preservation of Agricultural Land: If possible, design the field to occupy the least productive agricultural areas, preserving prime farmland for 
cultivation. 

Monitoring and Maintenance: Establish ongoing monitoring to address any unforeseen issues and maintain the field in an environmentally responsible 
manner.

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The proposed project is considered compatible with the surrounding area, based on the provided site plan and information. However, it is 
anticipated that the facility's events may generate increased activity in the neighborhood, including traffic, parking, and usage. To mitigate 
potential impacts, it is expected that the college will take responsibility for being a considerate neighbor and work to minimize conflicts that 
could affect public health, safety, and welfare. Following the Zoning Commission review session, some neighbors offered concerns that are reflected 

18



12 

in the minutes and Zoning Commission audio that could be considered for potential conditions. These themes are not limited to traffic, event 
scheduling/time limitations, noise and light disturbance, water usage and well impact, intended property use, alcohol use, etc. 

CRITERIA 4: The proposed use and development will be located, designed, constructed and operated in such a manner that it will be 
compatible with the immediate neighborhood and will not interfere with the orderly use, development and improvement of surrounding 
property (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

Preservation of Agricultural Character: The design of the baseball field can incorporate elements that align with the agricultural nature of the area, 
such as maintaining open green spaces or using native plants for landscaping. 

Traffic and Access Management: Proper planning for parking and access routes can prevent congestion and ensure smooth traffic flow, reducing the 
impact on neighboring properties. 

Noise and Light Control: Implementing measures like sound barriers and shielded lighting can prevent disturbances to nearby residents and wildlife, 
maintaining the area's tranquility. 

Community Benefits: A baseball field can provide recreational opportunities and foster community engagement, which may be seen as an enhancement 
rather than a detriment to the area's development. 

Environmental Considerations: Ensuring that the field's construction and maintenance do not harm local ecosystems or water resources can help 
preserve the natural environment. 

Monitoring and Compliance: Regular monitoring to ensure adherence to permit conditions can address any unforeseen issues and maintain harmony 
with the surrounding properties. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

It is expected that there will be an increase in activity on this site and traffic in the area during events. It should be expected that the 
college be mindful of the neighborhood and do what they can to mitigate any conflicts including those that could potential impact 
neighbors. Following the Zoning Commission review session, some neighbors offered concerns that are reflected in the minutes and Zoning 
Commission audio that could be considered for potential conditions. These themes are not limited to traffic, event scheduling/time limitations, noise and 
light disturbance, water usage and well impact, intended property use, alcohol use, etc.

CRITERIA 5: Essential public facilities and services will adequately serve the proposed use or development (Woodbury County Zoning 
Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

Road Access & Transportation – Well-maintained roads and highways ensure safe and efficient access for players, spectators, and staff. Public 
transportation options, if available, can further support accessibility. 

Water Supply & Drainage – Adequate water supply for irrigation, restrooms, and concessions is crucial. Proper drainage systems prevent flooding and 
maintain field conditions. 

Electricity & Lighting – Reliable electrical infrastructure supports field lighting, scoreboards, and other operational needs, ensuring usability during 
evening games. 

Emergency Services – Nearby fire stations, police presence, and medical facilities ensure safety and rapid response in case of emergencies. 

Waste Management – Regular trash collection and recycling services help maintain cleanliness and environmental sustainability. 

Parking Facilities – Well-planned parking areas accommodate visitors while minimizing traffic congestion in surrounding areas 
Restroom & Sanitation Facilities – Public restrooms and sanitation stations ensure hygiene and comfort for attendees. 

Storm water Management – Systems to control runoff and prevent erosion help protect surrounding agricultural land and natural resources. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The property owner(s) will need to work out the details with impacted stakeholders. 

CRITERIA 6: The proposed use or development will not result in unnecessary adverse effects upon any significant natural, scenic or 
historic features of the subject property or adjacent properties (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

Preserving Natural Features – The field can be designed to avoid disrupting existing trees, wetlands, or other ecological areas. Landscaping with native 
plants can help maintain biodiversity. 

19



13 

Minimizing Scenic Impact – The field can be integrated into the landscape using natural contours and vegetation buffers to maintain the area's scenic 
beauty. 

Respecting Historic Sites – If the land has historical significance, the design can incorporate interpretive signage or preserve key elements of the site, 
ensuring that its heritage remains intact. 

Sustainable Construction – Using eco-friendly materials and minimizing land grading can reduce environmental disruption. 
Noise and Light Management – Shielded lighting and sound barriers can prevent disturbances to nearby properties, ensuring the field does not negatively 
impact the surroundings. 

Traffic and Infrastructure Planning – Proper access routes and parking facilities can prevent congestion and maintain the orderly development of 
adjacent properties.

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

There does not appear to be any significant impact determined.  Following the Zoning Commission review session, some neighbors offered 
concerns that are reflected in the minutes and Zoning Commission audio that could be considered for potential conditions. These themes are not limited 
to traffic, event scheduling/time limitations, noise and light disturbance, water usage and well impact, intended property use, alcohol use, etc.

OTHER CONSIDERATION 1: The proposed use or development, at the particular location is necessary or desirable to provide a service 
or facility that is in the public interest or will contribute to the general welfare of the neighborhood or community (Woodbury County 
Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

A baseball field on land zoned for Agricultural Preservation (AP) can serve the public interest and contribute to community welfare by providing a space 
for recreational activities, fostering engagement through youth and adult leagues, and supporting educational programs that promote teamwork and 
discipline. If designed responsibly, the field can coexist with agricultural activities, ensuring balanced land use while maintaining environmental integrity. 
Additionally, the facility can generate economic benefits by attracting visitors for tournaments, supporting local businesses, and strengthening tourism. 
Beyond the economic and educational advantages, access to outdoor recreational spaces enhances public health by encouraging physical activity and 
social interaction. To align with AP zoning regulations, securing a conditional use permit or zoning amendment would be essential to demonstrate that the 
project supports the broader well-being of the community without compromising agricultural preservation goals. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

This proposed conditional use can be construed as an economic development feature that supports education and quality of life. 

OTHER CONSIDRATION 2: All possible efforts, including building and site design, landscaping and screening have been undertaken to 
minimize any adverse effects of the proposed use or development (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

We are committed to ensuring that the proposed baseball field is developed with minimal impact on the surrounding environment and community. Every 
possible effort has and will be taken to thoughtfully design the site, including architectural considerations, landscaping strategies, and screening elements 
that harmonize with the existing land use. The building design prioritizes sustainability and compatibility with the Agricultural Preservation (AP) zoning, 
ensuring that structures blend seamlessly into the landscape while maintaining functionality. Additionally, site planning will be meticulously executed to 
address factors such as traffic flow, storm water management, and noise reduction, reinforcing our dedication to responsible development. To further 
mitigate any potential adverse effects, comprehensive landscaping and screening measures have been incorporated to preserve visual aesthetics, 
reduce disruption to neighboring properties, and maintain the rural character of the area. Through these proactive steps, we aim to create a facility that 
serves the public interest while respecting and enhancing the integrity of the surrounding environment.

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

This organization can live up to the commitment as expected through the conditional use permit process to responsibly construct and 
operate a facility that is compliant with the zoning regulations and is mindful of the neighborhood.  Some conditions to mitigate any 
potential adverse impacts could be considered. 

20



14 21



15 22



16 

APPLICATION

23



17 24



18 25



19 26



20 27



21 28



22 29



23 

LEGAL NOTIFICATION FOR BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT PUBLIC HEARING

30



24 31



25

PROPERTY OWNER(S) NOTIFICATION

Property Owners within 500 Feet: 11

Notification Letter Date: May 15, 2025, June 19, 2025

Public Hearing Board: Board of Adjustment

Public Hearing Date: June 2, 2025, July 7, 2025

Phone Inquiries: 1 (Dale Rush at 1681 County Home Road)

Written Inquiries: 1

The names of the property owners are listed below.  

When more comments are received after the printing of this packet, they will be provided at the meeting.

PROPERTY OWNER(S) MAILING ADDRESS COMMENTS
Morningside University PO Box 67 #1170 

Morningside County 
Farm

Storm Lake IA 50588 No comments.

Lindberg Heritage Farms, LLC 3021 Quail Court Oklahoma 
City 

OK 73120-5706 No comments.

Chad A. Hofer and Candace E. 
Hofer

1631 County Home 
Road

Sioux City IA 51106-6933 No comments.

LeAnn Hurlbut, Trustee of the 
LeAnn Hulbut Revocable Trust 

604 E. Fenton Street Marcus IA 51035-7170 No comments.

Kathy Ann Cole and Albert 
William Cole, Jr., as Trustees 
under the Kathy Ann Cole 2006 
Revocable Trust 

5064 Cherrywood 
Drive  

Des Moines IA 50265-5457 No comments.

Troy S. DeForrest and Debra J. 
DeForrest

1861 Buchanan 
Avenue

Sioux City IA 51106 No comments.

Peterson Farms, LTD 6490 Mickelson 
Street 

Sioux City IA 51106 No comments.

Brian D. Peterson and Anita S. 
Peterson

1739 Charles Avenue Lawton IA 51030 No comments.

Woodbury County 620 Douglas Street Sioux City IA 51101 I did see the previous email and spoke to our administrative team.
They brought up the idea of planting a row of evergreens (along 
County Home road on the south side of the road) as a visual barrier 
from our training center/garages.  There may also be an opportunity 
to enter and agreement to allow them some overflow parking if they 
pay for the trees to be planted.  What are your thoughts? – Sherriff 
Chad Sheehan, 5/14/25. 

South Woodbury, LLC 600 Stevens Pointe 
Drive, Suite 350

Dakota Dunes SD 57049 No comments.

Tyler Meekma and Kristina L. 
Meekma

1644 County Home 
Road

Sioux City IA 51106 No comments.

PHONE INQUIRY / COMMENT:
June 24, 2025, 11:02 AM
Dale L. Rush, 1681 County Home Road, Sioux City, IA 51106
Dale Rush, expressed several concerns about Morningside College building a ballpark including and not limited to:

 Increased Costs and Inconvenience: The construction takes up farmland and raises area rental costs.
 Environmental and Practical Issues: The project involves significant disruption, such as fencing with windbreaks, which Rush 

believes won't work and could worsen the situation. He also mentions the difficulty of working with cattle in the area.
 Dust and Health Concerns: The construction and use of the ballpark would generate dust, posing a health issue.

32



26 

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS
911 COMMUNICATIONS CENTER: No comments.
FIBERCOMM: No comments.
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 
(IDNR):

No comments.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT): Only question/clarification would be bus parking on the site development. Buses 
take up a lot of stalls. – Jessica Felix, 5/1/25. 

Response to Jessica Felix: Jessica: Thanks for pointing that out.  The college 
indicated the following: 

“The southeast side of the parking lot off of County Home Rd or 190th is 
designated for bus parking. I thought we had that in there but it looks like 
it's just a large blank area at this point. I can have the drawing redone to 
reflect it if needed.” – from Jason Reynoldson, 5/1/25 

Thanks for the follow up. No concerns. – Jessica Felix, 5/1/25 
LOESS HILLS NATIONAL SCENIC BYWAY: No comments.
LOESS HILLS PROGRAM: No comments.
LONGLINES: No comments.
LUMEN: No comments.
MAGELLAN PIPELINE: No comments.
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Electrical 
Division): 

I have reviewed the attached conditional use permit application for MEC electric 
distribution, and we have no conflicts. The requestor should be made aware that 
we do have facilities located adjacent to the property and any requested relocation 
or extension of our facilities is subject to a customer contribution. Have a great 
weekend! – Casey Meinen, 5/1/25.

MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Gas Division): No comments.
NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICES 
(NRCS):

No comments.

NORTHERN NATURAL GAS: No comments.
NORTHWEST IOWA POWER COOPERATIVE (NIPCO): Have reviewed this zoning request. NIPCO has no issues with this request. 

Thanks. – Jeff Zettel, 5/12/25
NUSTAR PIPELINE: No comments.
SIOUXLAND DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT: Please be aware that I spoke with a contact for this site; I had informed them that 

the proposed septic system would need to be permitted publicly through the IDNR. 
– Ivy Bremer, 5/5/25.

WIATEL: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY CONSERVATION: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY ENGINEER: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER: No comments. – Diane Swoboda Peterson, 5/1/25.
WOODBURY COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC 
COOPERATIVE (REC):

No comments.

WOODBURY COUNTY SOIL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT:

The WCSWCD has no comments regarding this proposal. – Neil Stockfleth, 5/7/25.

WOODBURY COUNTY TREASURER: No comments.

33



27

PICTOMETRY 

34



28 

PARCEL REPORT(S)

35



29

ZONING MAP

SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA) MAP

36



30

ELEVATION MAP

37



31 

SOIL REPORT

38



32 39



33 

ADDITIONAL MATERIALS FOLLOWING FIRST PUBLIC HEARING 

40



34 41



35 42



36 43



37 44



38 45



39 46



40 47



41 48



42 49



43 50



44 51



45 52



46 53



47 54



48 55



49 56



50 

REFERENCED HYPERLINKS FROM JASON REYNOLDSON’S JULY 2, 2025 EMAIL 
ABOVE: 

 Wise Ave Solution 
o Https://Www.Avsolution.Hk/Portfolio/Control-Without-Compromise-Introducing-Q-Sys-Control/

 Technomad Audio 
o Https://Technomad.Com/Products/Noho/

 Rab Lighting 
o Https://Www.Rablighting.Com/Feature/Slim17-Field-Adjustable-Wall-Pack

 Athletic Sound
o https://www.athleticsound.com/products/baseball-softball-fields/as-cs/

ATTACHMENTS REFERENCED IN JASON REYNOLDSON’S JULY 2, 2025 EMAIL 
ABOVE:

 Technical Council Technical Document – Understanding and managing sound exposure and noise 
pollution at outdoor events – May 2020

o https://www.aes.org/technical/documents/AESTD1007_1_20_05.pdf
 Konlite VEGA Premium Series – New-generation LED Stadium Light 

o konlite-vega-premium-led-stadium-light-spec
 Konlite LYRA Series – LED Stadium Light 

o https://cdn.shopify.com/s/files/1/0377/8933/5692/files/Konlite_Lyra_Series_Spec.pdf
 JBL Professional AWC82 Speaker

o https://jblpro.com/zh/site_elements/awc82-spec-sheet-6178fae1-254d-44e6-ae13-d7c2f3d115c8
 RAB Slim17

o https://www.rablighting.com/sites/default/files/downloads/slim17-sell-sheet_2.pdf
 Guidelines for Traffic Imact Analysis

o See subsequent pages or: 
o https://iowadot.gov/media/3158/download?inline=

57



51 58



52 59



53 60



54 61



55 62



56 

RESOURCES FROM FIRST BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT PUBLIC HEARING – JUNE 2, 
2025 

MEETING BACKUP MATERIALS 
 https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-06-

02_packet_board_of_adjustment_47939.pdf

MEETING AUDIO 
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ood2zFzS74w

DRAFT MINUTES 
 See subsequent pages. 

63



57 

DRAFT MINUTES 

64



58 

DRAFT MINUTES 

65



59 

DRAFT MINUTES 

66



60 

DRAFT MINUTES 

67



1

WOODBURY COUNTY PLANNING & ZONING
620 Douglas Street, Sixth Floor, Sioux City, Iowa 51101

712.279.6609 – 712.279.6530 (Fax)
Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator                                        Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk

dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov

REPORT – JULY 1, 2025
APPLICATION DETAILS
Applicant(s)/Owner(s): Kevin Heiss/Rent Properties

LLC
Application Type: Conditional Use Permit
Zoning District: General Commercial (GC)
Total Acres: 67.25
Current Use: Agricultural / Vacant Land
Proposed Use: Installation of a 14’ x 48’ LED 

billboard for off-premise
Pre-application Meeting: May 22, 2025
Application Date: May 27, 2025
Legal Notice Date: June 21, 2025
Neighbor(s) Notice Date: June 19, 2025
Stakeholder(s) Notice 
Date:

June 5, 2025

Zoning Commission 
Review:

June 23, 2025

Board of Adjustment 
Public Hearing:

July 7, 2025

PROPERTY DETAILS
Parcel(s): 884606100002
Township/Range: T88N R46W (Floyd Township)
Section: 6
Quarter: N 2/3 of the N 1/2 of the NW 1/4
Zoning District: General Commercial (GC)
Floodplain: Yes. Zone A
Property 
Address:

No address

CONTENTS
Summary
Aerial Map / Site Plan 
Excerpt
Review Requirements
Review Criteria
Application Materials
Legal Notification
Public Comments
Stakeholder Comments
Supporting Information

SUMMARY
Kevin Heiss, representing Rent Properties LLC, has submitted a conditional use permit (CUP) application to construct and operate a 
14’ x 48’ LED billboard for off-premise advertising. The property is located in the N 2/3 of the N 1/2 of the NW 1/4, Section 6, Township 
88N, Range 46W (Floyd Township), identified as Parcel 884606100002. It is proposed to be situated along the south side of Highway 
20 and the east side of Charles Avenue.  The property is in the General Commercial (GC) Zoning District, where “off-premise 
advertising sings (e.g. Billboards)” are classified as a conditional use under Section 3.03.4 and Section 5.02.8 of the Woodbury County 
Zoning Ordinance, subject to review by the Zoning Commission and approval by the Board of Adjustment. The proposal was advertised 
in the Sioux City Journal’s legal section on June 19, 2025 and June 21, 2025. Neighbors within 500 feet were notified via a June 19, 
2025 letter about the Board of Adjustment public hearing on July 7, 2025. Relevant stakeholders, including government agencies, 
utilities, and organizations, have been invited to provide comments. Following their review, on June 23, 2025, the Zoning Commission 
voted 5-0 to recommend approval. Please refer to the subsequent pages to review their findings and recommendation statement.
AERIAL MAP SITE PLAN EXCERPT

68



2 69



3 70



4 71



5 72



6 73



7 74



8 75



9 76



10 77



11 78



12 79



13 80



14 81



15 82



16 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Overview 
The applicant seeks a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for an LED billboard in the General Commercial (GC) Zoning District 
along Highway 20, Woodbury County. The proposal can comply with the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance and 
Comprehensive Plan, by meeting the six criteria and two additional considerations for conditional use approval. 

Criteria Analysis 
1. Authorization in Zoning District: The billboard is a permitted conditional use in the GC Zoning District, adhering to 

spacing (1,000 feet from other billboards and AE zones), setback, and structural standards. 
2. Harmony with Ordinance and General Plan: The billboard aligns with the county’s commercial development goals 

along Highway 20, supporting economic growth and maintaining land use compatibility. 
3. Adverse Effects: The billboard, set back from the highway and 1,000 feet from other billboards/AE zones, poses 

minimal impact on traffic, parking, utilities, or neighborhood character. Minimal electrical service is required, and LED 
lighting glare mitigation is recommended. 

4. Compatibility with Neighborhood: The two-sided billboard’s design and placement match the commercial corridor’s 
character, with a standard 14’ x 48’ size and no interference with adjacent properties or future development. 
Floodplain requirements will be met through administrative processes. 

5. Public Facilities and Services: The billboard requires only minimal electrical service, and no water, sewer, or public 
access, ensuring adequate infrastructure support. 

6. Natural, Scenic, or Historic Features: The cleared parcel has no significant features, and minimal ground 
disturbance ensures limited environmental impact. Floodplain compliance can be addressed administratively. 

Additional Considerations 
1. Public Interest: The billboard supports local business advertising, enhancing economic activity along Highway 20 

without detracting from neighborhood welfare. 
2. Minimizing Adverse Effects: The site plan includes setbacks, spacing, and minimal landscape disturbance reduce 

impacts. Additional screening is unnecessary due to the commercial context, though lighting glare should be 
considered. 

Additional Notes 
The ordinance does not prohibit V-shaped or multi-faced billboards, consistent with other sign regulations. Conditions on 
billboard design could be addressed during the CUP process. 

Recommendation 
Contingent upon information obtained and carefully evaluated from the public following the Board of Adjustment public 
hearing, the application appears that it could be approved. The proposal appears to align with zoning requirements and could 
be construed to support public interest through advertising economic benefits. 

83



17 

ZONING ORDINANCE CRITERIA FOR BOARD APPROVAL

Conditional Use Permits are determined by a review of the following criteria by the Zoning Commission (ZC) and Board of Adjustment 
(BOA).  The ZC makes a recommendation to the BOA which will decide following a public hearing before the Board. 

APPLICANT’S DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE: 

The proposed conditional use is the installation and operation of a 14-foot by 48-foot off-premise, double-sided LED billboard. The 
structure will be used for digital advertising visible from Highway 20, providing marketing opportunities for local businesses and services. 
The billboard will be constructed to meet county ordinance requirements, including setback and spacing standards, and will utilize minimal 
power with downward-facing LED lighting to reduce glare and light pollution. The sign will be programmed for appropriate content display 
duration as per county guidelines and located on privately owned commercial-zoned land.

MAP DRAWN TO SCALE, SHOWING THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, ALL STRUCTURES AND OTHER IMPROVEMENTS, WITH THE 
PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE IDNTIFIED PER STRUCTURE OF IMPROVEMENT, PROVID BY ATTACHMENT 

CRITERIA 1: The conditional use requested is authorized as a conditional use in the zoning district within which the property is located 
and that any specific conditions or standards described as part of that authorization have been or will be satisfied (Woodbury County 
Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 
The LED board is an authorized conditional use in the General Commercial (GC) Zoning District, as per the Woodbury County Zoning 
Ordinance. This parcel is zoned GC, and the proposed billboard conforms to the standards and permitted conditional uses within this 
zoning classification and certain commercial districts. This parcel is located on Highway 20 and adjacent to other parcels with an existing 
billboard across the road. The application follows the required spacing standards, setbacks, and structure regulations as seen in county 
ordinance. We plan to stay 1000ft from the original billboard as well as 1000ft from the AE zone that is to the Northwest of the property.

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance (Sec. 5.02.8) permits off-premise signs, such as billboards, as conditional uses in the GC 
Zoning District, subject to specific standards. The applicant’s assertion that the billboard meets spacing (1,000 feet from other billboards 
and AE zones), setbacks, and structural requirements aligns with ordinance standards as the site plan appears to include these distances. 
The site plan appears to indicated that the billboard maintained 1,000-foot spacing from other billboards and AE zones.  

CRITERIA 2: The proposed use and development will be in harmony with the general purpose and intent of this ordinance and the 
goals, objectives and standards of the general plan (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE:
This project aligns with the county’s future land use goals by placing signage along a major highway corridor, which supports local 
economic development while preserving compatibility with land use. This parcel is currently zoned General Commercial (GC), and the 
proposed use aligns with its current zoning designation and intended commercial development along Highway 20.  

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The Woodbury County General Plan encourages commercial development along major corridors like Highway 20 to foster economic growth while 
preserving land use compatibility. The GC Zoning District is intended for commercial activities, and the proposed billboard aligns with this purpose by 
providing advertising opportunities that support local businesses. The site’s location along Highway 20, a high-traffic corridor, is consistent with the plan’s 
emphasis on visible commercial development. The applicant’s response adequately demonstrates harmony with the ordinance and general plan, as the 
use complements the commercial character of the area without conflicting with land use objectives. 

(https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/community_economic_development/woodbury_county_comprehensive_plan_2040_89417.pdf ) 

84



18 

CRITERIA 3: The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue adverse effect upon adjacent property, the 
character of the neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking, utility facilities, and other factors affecting the public health, safety and 
general welfare (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 
The billboard is setback over 280 feet from the highway and more than 1,000 feet from any other billboard or AE-zoned lot, as shown in 
the attached site plan. Its placement makes sure that visibility, traffic safety, and neighborhood character are not negatively impacted. 
There will be no parking, public access, or utilities required on-site beyond minimal electrical service for the LED lighting, further 
minimizing disruption to the surrounding properties. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The site plan appears to confirm the billboard’s setback from Highway 20, which exceeds the setback requirement of 50 FT from the right-
of-way line. The 1,000-foot spacing from other billboards and AE zones complies with ordinance standards, reducing visual clutter and 
potential land use conflicts. The lack of parking or public access eliminates concerns about traffic or parking impacts. The minimal 
electrical service requirement poses little strain on utility infrastructure. The billboard’s placement in a commercially zoned area with 
existing billboards nearby suggests it will not alter the neighborhood’s character. The LED lighting should include measures to reduce or 
avoid glare, but the applicant’s response indicates no significant adverse effects, satisfying this criterion. 

CRITERIA 4: The proposed use and development will be located, designed, constructed and operated in such a manner that it will be 
compatible with the immediate neighborhood and will not interfere with the orderly use, development and improvement of surrounding 
property (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 
The parcel is around other large agricultural and commercial parcels, including an existing billboard to the east. The design, scale, and 
orientation of the sign match the existing conditions. Its placement maintains visual and operational consistency with surrounding 
development and does not hurt future use or development of adjacent land. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The parcel is in a commercially zoned area along Highway 20, adjacent to agricultural and commercial properties. The presence of an 
existing billboard nearby supports the applicant’s claim that the proposed billboard is consistent with the area’s visual and operational 
character. The 14’ x 48’ size is standard for off-premise signs and does not appear disproportionate to the surroundings. The billboard’s 
placement avoids encroachment on adjacent properties, and its minimal footprint ensures no interference with future development. The 
response demonstrates compatibility with the neighborhood, meeting this criterion. The property is within the floodplain but the applicant 
can satisfy the floodplain requirements through the administrative process by not placing the sign within the floodway and following the 
floodplain development permitting process through the county zoning department. 

CRITERIA 5: Essential public facilities and services will adequately serve the proposed use or development (Woodbury County Zoning 
Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 
The billboard will require no water, sewer, or public access. Minimal electrical service for LED lighting will be installed per code and utility 
provider standards. As such, existing infrastructure is more than adequate for the proposed use. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The proposed use has negligible demands on public infrastructure, requiring only electrical service for LED lighting. The applicant’s 
commitment to install this service per code ensures compliance with utility standards. The absence of water, sewer, or access needs 
eliminates concerns about infrastructure capacity. There appears to be no physical constraints that would prevent electrical service 
installation. This criterion is clearly satisfied, as existing facilities are more than adequate for the minimal requirements. 

CRITERIA 6: The proposed use or development will not result in unnecessary adverse effects upon any significant natural, scenic or 
historic features of the subject property or adjacent properties (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

APPLICANT RESPONSE: 

There are no historic, scenic, or environmentally sensitive features located on this parcel. The sign has been placed with ample spacing 
from nearby lots and with minimal disturbance to the natural landscape. The site is cleared, owned by the applicant, and does not 
encroach on any floodplain, protected area, or sensitive habitat.

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The parcel is a cleared, commercially zoned lot with no apparent natural, scenic, or historic features. The applicant’s assertion that the 
site avoids protected areas, or sensitive habitats is plausible, given its location in a developed commercial corridor. As noted, the property 
is within the floodplain but the applicant can satisfy the floodplain requirements through the administrative process by not placing the sign 
within the floodway and following the floodplain development permitting process through the county zoning department. The minimal 
ground disturbance required for billboard installation supports the claim of limited environmental impact.  

85



19 

OTHER CONSIDERATION 1: The proposed use or development, at the particular location is necessary or desirable to provide a service 
or facility that is in the public interest or will contribute to the general welfare of the neighborhood or community (Woodbury County 
Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The proposed billboard serves the public interest by providing advertising space for local businesses, which supports economic activity 
along Highway 20. Its location in a commercial corridor enhances visibility for commercial services, contributing to the community’s 
economic welfare. The minimal infrastructure demands and compliance with zoning standards ensure it does not detract from the 
neighborhood’s welfare. While not a critical public facility, the billboard’s economic benefits align with the ordinance’s intent to foster 
commercial development, satisfying this consideration. 

OTHER CONSIDRATION 2: All possible efforts, including building and site design, landscaping and screening have been undertaken to 
minimize any adverse effects of the proposed use or development (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

The site plan demonstrates efforts to minimize adverse effects through setback from Highway 20 and 1,000-foot spacing from other 
billboards and AE zones, reducing visual and safety impacts. The applicant’s commitment to minimal landscape disturbance and 
compliance with electrical codes further mitigates effects. Given the commercial context and existing billboards, additional screening may 
not be necessary. Overall, the design and placement sufficiently minimizes adverse effects, meeting this consideration. The Board should 
consider questioning potential glare or lighting issues. 

OVERALL ANALYSIS: 

The CUP application for the LED billboard can meet compliance with the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance’s criteria and considerations. The 
proposed use is authorized in the GC Zoning District, aligns with the general plan’s commercial development goals, and likely poses minimal 
adverse effects on traffic, utilities, or neighborhood character. The billboard’s design and placement strive for compatibility with the commercial 
corridor, and its minimal infrastructure needs are easily met by existing services. The billboard contributes to economic welfare by supporting local 
advertising. Additionally, after seeking counsel with the county attorney office, it was agreed that the ordinance does not prohibit v-shaped or multiple 
faced billboards. The shape or number of faces of a billboard could be something that could be addressed in the course of the conditional use 
process (i.e. a specific condition could potentially be placed in the CUP related to those items). Counsel also noted that the other regulations in the 
ordinance pertaining to signs, e.g. ground signs, do not specify the number of faces and those often are front and back. Thus, the interpretation for 
billboards would be consistent with the way the ordinance has been applied to other types of signs.  

Recommendation: Contingent upon information obtained and carefully evaluated from the public following the Board of Adjustment public hearing, 
the application appears that it could be approved. The proposal appears to align with zoning requirements and could be construed to support public 
interest through advertising economic benefits.

86



20

Excerpt from Section 5.02.8 of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance.

87



21 

APPLICATION

88



22 89



23 90



24 91



25 92



26 93



27 94



28 

SITE PLAN & SEPARATION DISTANCES 

95



29 96



30 97



31 98



32 

BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION 

99



33 100



34 101



35 

FLOODPLAIN DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION 

102



36 103



37 104



38 105



39 106



40 107



41 108



42 109



43 

LEGAL NOTIFICATION FOR BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT PUBLIC HEARING

110



44

PROPERTY OWNER(S) NOTIFICATION

Property Owners within 500 Feet: 15

Notification Letter Date: June 19, 2025

Public Hearing Board: Board of Adjustment

Public Hearing Date: July 7, 2025 at 5:00 PM

Phone Inquiries: 1 (Jerry Steffan)

Written Inquiries/Comments: 1 (Jerry & Vernell Steffan)

The names of the property owners are listed below.  

When more comments are received after the printing of this packet, they will be provided at the meeting.

PROPERTY OWNER(S) MAILING ADDRESS COMMENTS
Rent Properties, LLC 204 Buckeye Circle Lawton IA 51030 No written comments.
Strachan Realty Company, LLC 1820 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 No written comments.
Jerry E. Steffen & Vernell D. Steffen, 
Co-Trustees and their successors in 
Trust under the Jerry and Vernell 
Steffen Revocable Trust dated 9-3-
2008

1528 Jewel Ave Moville IA 51039 SEE LETTER BELOW

George F. Seubert & Mary Jane 
Seubert, as Trustees of the George 
E. and Mary Jane Seubert 
Revocable Trust dated 7-31-2023

2087 210th Street Bronson IA 51007-8021 No written comments. 

Charles Claude Neal, Life Estate 
interest with remainder to Everett 
Dean Neal and an undivided 1/2 
interest to Everett Dean Neal and 
an undivided 1/2 interest to Lois 
Jeanette Deringer, Trustee of the 
Lois Jeanette Deringer Revocable 
Trust, under Agreement dated 
March 28, 2005

1637 Charles Ave Lawton IA 51030-9727 No written comments. 

AVE-PLP Properties, LLC, a Kansas 
limited liability company

58668 190th Street Pacific Junction IA 51561 No written comments. 

Todd Shumansky & Tara 
Shumansky, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship

1275 Buchanan Ave Sioux City IA 51108 No written comments.

RJ Tide Construction, Inc., an Iowa 
corporation

1821 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 No written comments.

H & H Real Estate, LLC, an Iowa 
limited liability company

1624 180th Street Sioux City IA 51106 No written comments. 

Michael Pagan & Terri Pagan, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship

1589 Charles Ave Lawton IA 51030 No written comments.

Midwest Auto Properties, LLC, an 
Iowa limited liability company

1901 Hwy 20 Lawton IA 51030 No written comments. 

Brian D. Peterson, a married person 1739 Charles Ave Lawton IA 51030 No written comments.
An undivided 1/2 interest to 
Everett Dean Neal & an undivided 
1/2interest to Lois Jeanette 
Deringer, Trustee of the Lois 
Jeanette Deringer Revocable Trust, 
under Agreement dated March 28, 
2005

1637 Charles Ave Lawton IA 51030-9727 No written comments.

Dana D. Neal & Kimberly A. Neal, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship

1774 162nd Street Lawton IA 51030 No written comments. 

Rent Properties, LLC 204 Buckeye Circle Lawton IA 51030 No written comments.

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS
911 COMMUNICATIONS CENTER: No comments.
FIBERCOMM: No comments.
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (IDNR): No comments.
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT): No comments.
LOESS HILLS NATIONAL SCENIC BYWAY: No comments.
LOESS HILLS PROGRAM: No comments.
LONGLINES: No comments.
LUMEN: No comments.
MAGELLAN PIPELINE: No comments.
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Electrical Division): No comments.

111



45

MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Gas Division): No comments.
NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICES (NRCS): No comments.
NORTHERN NATURAL GAS: No comments.
NORTHWEST IOWA POWER COOPERATIVE (NIPCO): Have reviewed this Conditional Use Permit application. NIPCO has no issues with this request. – Jeff 

Zettel, 6/5/25. 
NUSTAR PIPELINE: No comments.
SIOUXLAND DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT: No comments.
WIATEL: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY CONSERVATION: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY ENGINEER: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE (REC): No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY SOIL AND WATER CONSERVATION 
DISTRICT: 

The WCSWCD has no comments regarding this application. – Neil Stockfleth, 6/5/25.

WOODBURY COUNTY TREASURER: No comments.

112



46

PICTOMETRY 

113



47 

PARCEL REPORT(S)

114



48 115



49

ZONING MAP

SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA) MAP

116



50

ESTIMATED FLOODWAY MAP

LOCATION MAPPING RELATIVE TO FLOODWAY (NOT SCIENTIFIC)

The image above is not scientific nor intended to represent a survey or exact location. Only provided for general 
informational purposes relative to the general floodway location.

117



51

ELEVATION MAP

SOIL MAP AND REPORT

118



52 119



WOODBURY COUNTY PLANNING & ZONING
620 Douglas Street, Sixth Floor, Sioux City, Iowa 51101

712.279.6609 – 712.279.6530 (Fax)
Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator                                        Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk

dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov

APPLICATION DETAILS PROPERTY DETAILS TABLE OF CONTENTS
Owner/Applicant(s): Kevin L. Morton
Application Type: Variance
Zoning District: Suburban Residential (SR)
Total Acres: 0.44
Current Use: Residential 
Proposed Use: Residential Additional Garage
Pre-application Meeting: May, 2025
Application Date: June 16, 2025
Stakeholders Notification Date: June 16, 2025
Legal Notice Date: June 21, 2025
Neighbors’ (500’) Letter Date: June 19, 2025
Board of Adjustment Public Hearing Date: July 7, 2025

Parcel(s): 874733376005
Township: T87N R47W (Liberty Township)
Section: 33
Zoning District: Suburban Residential (SR)
Floodplain District: X – Not in floodplain
Address: 108 Bigelow Park Road, Salix, IA 51052

Property Layout
Site Footprint
Elevation
Zoning Maps
Soil Map
City Regulations

VARIANCE APPLICATION DESCRIPTION
Pursuant to Section 335 of the Code of Iowa, the Woodbury County Board of Adjustment will hold a public hearing to consider a variance application 
from Kevin Morton, at 108 Bigelow Park Road, Salix, IA 51052, who seeks approval to construct a new garage behind an existing garage that is 
requested to be set back four (4) feet from the existing garage. The property owner has filed this variance application to seek relief from Section 
4.12.5 of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance pertaining to “Accessory Buildings” which states “5. Detached accessory structures shall not be 
located closer to any other accessory or principal building than ten feet” (p. 46). The proposed garage size is approximately 24’ x 16’ and subject to 
changes. The property is located on a 0.44 acre lot identified as Parcel #874733376005 and is identified as Lot 5 in Block 1 in the Galland’s Lakeview 
Second Sub-Division in Section 33 in T87N R47W (Liberty Township) and in the Suburban Residential (SR) Zoning District. The property is located 
on the south side of Bigelow Park Road and west of 275th Street. Owner/Applicant: Kevin L. Morton, 108 Bigelow Park Rd., Salix, IA 51052.

LOCATION MAP SITE PLAN EXCERPT

120



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Overview: Kevin Morton has applied for a variance to construct a new garage with a reduced setback from an existing 
structure due to unique site constraints related to a recently installed septic system.  

Key Findings:

Public Interest (Review Criteria 1): The applicant has adequately demonstrated that granting the variance will not be 
contrary to the public interest. The proposed garage's location behind the existing structure, similar height, and access 
through the existing garage will prevent adverse impacts on neighboring properties, avoid increased congestion or traffic, 
and pose no threat to public health or safety. Furthermore, it will not overburden public facilities or impair the enjoyment, 
use, or value of nearby properties. 

Economic Hardship/Practical Difficulties (Review Criteria 2): The applicant has successfully established a case of 
"practical difficulties," aligning with the updated Iowa Code. The necessity of a new septic system, installed in 2022, has 
created unique physical constraints on the property, limiting the available space for constructing a garage that meets the 
existing 10-foot setback. Without the 4-foot variance, only a smaller shed, not a functional garage of the desired size 
(24'x16'), could be built. This limitation affects the beneficial use of the property and its potential resale value as a multi-car 
garage property. Crucially, this hardship is not self-created but rather a consequence of a required and properly sited 
infrastructure improvement. 

Other Variance Requirements (Review Criteria 3): The proposed garage is a permitted accessory use within the 
Suburban Residential district. The unique circumstances surrounding the septic system suggest this is not a commonly 
recurring issue that would constitute a de facto ordinance amendment. The requested 4-foot setback appears to be the 
minimum relief necessary to accommodate a functional garage given the site constraints. There is no indication that flood 
plain management requirements are applicable. 

Conclusion: The variance application submitted by Kevin Morton for 108 Bigelow Park Road demonstrates substantial 
merit. The applicant has provided compelling evidence of "practical difficulties" arising from unique physical constraints (new 
septic system location) that prevent the beneficial use of the property in strict compliance with the zoning ordinance. 
Granting the variance for a 4-foot setback would enable the construction of a much-needed garage without causing 
demonstrable negative impacts on the public interest or surrounding properties. The application aligns well with the spirit and 
intent of the updated Iowa Code, which emphasizes providing relief where literal enforcement creates practical difficulties for 
property owners seeking to make beneficial use of their land. Therefore, based on the analysis, the variance request is well-
justified. 

121



APPLICATION

122



123



124



125



126



127



SECTIONS OF ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO VARIANCE REQUEST
Section 4.12.5 on page 46

REVIEW CRITERIA 1: (Section 2.02.8F1[A])

In terms of the variance application process, it is the duty of the Board of Adjustment to determine that the granting of the variance will not be contrary 
to the public interest or the general intent and purpose of this title in it that it:

1. ADVERSELY IMPACTS NEARBY PROPERTIES;

2. SUBSTANTIALLY INCREASES CONGESTION OF PEOPLE, BUILDINGS OR TRAFFIC;

3. ENDANGERS PUBLIC HEALTH OR SAFETY;

4. OVERBURDENS PUBLIC FACILITIES OR SERVICES OR;

5. IMPAIRS THE ENJOYMENT, USE OR VALUE OF NEARBY PROPERTY.

Applicant Response:

1. Explain below why granting the variance will not adversely impact nearby properties:
- The proposed location of new garage will be behind the existing garage. It will not impact any neighbors view of

the road, the lake or any part of their property. It will be built within the ordinance guidelines along the property line.
It will be built the same height or less than the existing garage and will also be accessed through the existing
garage. No additional driveway or ass will be necessary.

2. Explain below why granting the variance will not substantially increase congestion of people, buildings or traffic:
- The new garage will be built directly behind existing garage therefore no new driveway or access will be

necessary as the access will only be from the existing garage. The new garage will not cause any additional
traffic or congestion of any kind. The garage will only be used by the owner of the property to store his
motorcycle, four-wheeler, lawnmower, tools, etc.

3. Explain below why granting the variance will not endanger public health or safety:
- The proposed garage with 4' setback will only be used for storage of motorcycle, four-wheeler, lawnmower, 

snowblower, etc. It is located on private property and will not cause any danger to public health or safety.

4. Explain below why granting the variance will not overburden public facilities or services:
- The new garage with a 4' setback will not be accessible to the public as it will be located on private property behind the existing garage. 

No public services will be necessary to maintain the garage.

5. Explain below why granting the variance will not impair the enjoyment, use or value of nearby property:
- The new garage with a 4' setback will not impair the neighbors property as it will be the same height or less

than the existing garage and it will not impair the neighbors view of anything they currently have for a view.
The garage will be used for storage only so no additional noise, smells or any disruptions will occur with the
neighbors. It will be located within the guidelines of the ordinance from the neighbors property so will not affect
their current property value.

Staff Analysis:

1. Adversely impacts nearby properties: The applicant states the proposed garage will be behind the existing garage and will not impact 
neighbors' views of the road, lake, or their property. It will be built within ordinance guidelines along the property line, be of similar or lesser 
height than the existing garage, and will be accessed through the existing garage, requiring no additional driveway or access. This response 
adequately addresses the criterion. The new Iowa Code also emphasizes that variances should not be contrary to public interest.

2. Substantially increases congestion of people, buildings or traffic: The applicant explains that the new garage will be built directly behind 
the existing garage, negating the need for a new driveway or access and therefore will not cause additional traffic or congestion. It will be 
used solely by the owner for storage. This response adequately addresses the criterion.

3. Endangers public health or safety: The applicant states the garage will be used for private storage and is located on private property, 
posing no danger to public health or safety. This response adequately addresses the criterion.

4. Overburdens public facilities or services: The applicant notes the new garage will be on private property, inaccessible to the public, and 
will not require public services for maintenance. This response adequately addresses the criterion.

128



5. Impairs the enjoyment, use or value of nearby property: The applicant asserts the new garage, being of similar or lesser height than the 
existing one, will not impair neighbors' views, enjoyment, or property value. It will be used for storage only, preventing additional noise, 
smells, or disruptions. This response adequately addresses the criterion.

REVIEW CRITERIA 2: (Section 2.02.8F1[B])

The ordinance also states that granting the variance is necessary to assure that the owner does not suffer an economic hardship. (Note: increased 
financial return or reduced costs to the applicant are not adequate cause for a finding for a hardship.)  A finding of economic hardship must be based 
on each of the following:

6. THE PROPERTY CANNOT YIELD A REASONABLE RETURN IF USED IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS TITLE;

7. THE PROPERTY HAS UNIQUE PHYSICAL CONSTRAINTS THAT RESULT IN ITS INABILITY TO BE USED IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF THIS TITLE; AND

8. THE HARDSHIP IS NOT A RESULT OF ACTIONS BY THE OWNER.

Applicant Response:

6. Explain below why the property cannot yield a reasonable return without the granting of the variance: 
-  In order to build a single car size garage (24x16) the 4' setback is necessary due to the new septic system that was 

installed in 2022. The space to build this garage is limited by said septic and west property line. If we were to build 
according to the required 10' setback we could only build a shed and not a garage. 
By adding a garage size building the resale value of the home will also become favorable as a 3 car garage property. 

7. Explain below why the property has unique physical constraints that result in its inability to be used without the granting of the 
variance: 
- Due to the location of new septic installed in 2022 we cannot build any further back than the proprosed location. 

With a 4' setback we can build a 24xl6 garage and still remain 15' from septic and 4' 3" from west property line. 
Withouth the variance a single car garage cannot be added to the property. The backyard is also restricted to access 
on the East side of the house with permission of the East neighbor. There is no ac>ss from back (south) side of 
property. We also cannot drive on backyard south of septic system as the leech field is located there. The new 
garage would allow us to access the yard from the west side of the yard with no disruption or permission needed. 

8. Explain below why the hardship is not a result of actions or decisions by the owner: 
- When the new septic system was installed in 2022 it was necessary to install it closer to the home but within the 

guidelines of the health department. When old septic system was removed it was strongly advised by the contractor 
to install new septic where it now resides. The new system also has a leech field that covers most all of the 
backyard that cannot be driven over so there is no access on south side of property. 
A 4' setback will allow a 24x16 garage to be built perfectly in the spa> allowed without encroaching on neighbors 
property or being too close to the new septic system. 

Staff Analysis:

6. The property cannot yield a reasonable return if used in compliance with the requirements of this title: The applicant argues that a 4-
foot setback is necessary to build a 24’x16’ garage due to the location of a new septic system installed in 2022. Building with the required 10-
foot setback would only allow for a shed, not a garage. The applicant also notes that adding a garage-sized building would favorably impact 
the home's resale value as a "3 car garage property." The recent Iowa Code changes allow for variances when literal enforcement results in 
"practical difficulties to the property owner in making a beneficial use of the property allowed by the zoning ordinance". The argument for a 
"reasonable return" in this context appears to align with the concept of beneficial use.

7. The property has unique physical constraints that result in its inability to be used in compliance with the requirements of this title: 
The applicant explains that the 2022 septic system installation limits the buildable area, preventing construction further back. The 4-foot 
setback allows for a 24’x16’ garage while maintaining 15 feet from the septic and 4 feet 3 inches from the west property line. Without the 
variance, a single-car garage cannot be added. Furthermore, backyard access is restricted by the septic's leach field and limited access on 
the east side, making western access from a new garage beneficial. This demonstrates unique physical constraints aligning with the "practical 
difficulties" criteria in the updated Iowa Code.

8. The hardship is not a result of actions or decisions by the owner: The applicant states that the new septic system was installed in 2022 
at the contractor's strong advisement, closer to the home but within health department guidelines. The leach field also restricts backyard 
access. This indicates the hardship is a result of necessary improvements to the property (septic system installation) and not self-created by 
the owner, which is a key consideration in the updated Iowa Code.

129



REVIEW CRITERIA 3: (Section 2.02.8F2-5)

The ordinance also states that no variance shall be granted:

9. WHICH WOULD PERMIT THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A USE WITHIN A GIVEN DISTRICT WHICH IS PROHIBITED THEREIN;

10. WHICH IS SO COMMONLY RECURRING THAT IT IS A DE FACTO AMENDMENT OF THIS ORDINANCE; AND

11. THAT IS MORE THAN THE MINIMUM RELIEF NEEDED.

12. TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5.03 RELATIVE TO FLOOD PLAIN MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS UNLESS THE BOARD OF 
ADJUSTMENT CONSIDERS THE FACTORS LISTED IN SUBSECTION 5.03-9.C (4).

Staff Analysis:

9. Which would permit the establishment of a use within a given district which is prohibited therein: The proposed use is a garage for 
storage, which is an accessory use generally permitted in a residential district. This criterion appears to be met.

10. Which is so commonly recurring that it is a de facto amendment of this ordinance: The applicant does not directly address this, but the 
unique physical constraints presented (new septic system location) suggest this is not a commonly recurring issue.

11. That is more than the minimum relief needed: The applicant's request for a 4-foot setback to accommodate a 24’x16’ garage due to the 
septic system location suggests they are seeking the minimum relief necessary to achieve a beneficial use of their property. The new Iowa 
Code states that the variance should be "such variance from the terms of the ordinance... as will not be contrary to the public interest... where 
owing to special conditions a literal enforcement... will result in practical difficulties to the property owner".

12. To the provisions of Section 5.03 relative to flood plain management requirements unless the Board of Adjustment considers the 
factors listed in subsection 5.03-9.C (4): The property is not within the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA – floodplain).

STAFF CONCLUSION

Based on the applicant's responses and considering the updated Iowa Code concerning variances, the application has significant merit. The new Iowa 
Code allows for variances where "special conditions a literal enforcement of the provisions of the ordinance will result in practical difficulties to the 
property owner in making a beneficial use of the property allowed by the zoning ordinance, and so that the spirit of the ordinance shall be observed and 
substantial justice done". The applicant has clearly articulated practical difficulties stemming from the necessary installation of a new septic system, 
which limits the available space for a garage if the strict 10-foot setback is applied. 

The applicant has demonstrated that granting the variance for a 4-foot setback would allow for a beneficial use of the property by enabling the 
construction of a garage, which would otherwise be impossible or severely limited due to the septic system's location. The applicant has also provided 
sufficient explanations that the proposed garage will not adversely impact nearby properties, increase congestion, endanger public health or safety, 
overburden public facilities, or impair the enjoyment, use, or value of neighboring properties. Furthermore, the hardship is clearly not self-created, as it 
stems from a necessary infrastructure upgrade. 

The request for a 4-foot setback appears to be the minimum relief needed to achieve the desired beneficial use of the property (a garage) given the 
unique physical constraints. The application aligns well with the "practical difficulties" and "beneficial use" provisions introduced in the recent Iowa Code 
changes. Therefore, the variance application appears to be well-supported.

130



LEGAL NOTIFICATION FOR BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT PUBLIC HEARING

131



PROPERTY OWNER(S) NOTIFICATION

Property Owners within 500 Feet: 58

Notification Letter Date: June 19, 2025

Public Hearing Board: Board of Adjustment

Public Hearing Date: July 7, 2025

Phone Inquiries: 0

Written Inquiries: 1

The names of the property owners are listed below.  

When more comments are received after the printing of this packet, they will be provided at the meeting.

PROPERTY OWNER(S) MAILING ADDRESS COMMENTS
Kevin L. Morton 108 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments
Mark R. Larkin and Lori A. Larkin, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship 

104 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Robert Eugene Dandurand, a 
married person 

101 Jay Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Richard E. Dandurand, II and 
Alyssa E. Dandurand, husband 
and wife, as joint tenants with full 
rights of survivorship 

105 Jay Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

George E. Dandurand and Joann 
E. Dandurand, husband and wife, 
as joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

113 Jay Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Alan R. Mast, Jr., a single person 116 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments
Justin Oehm, a single person and 
Sara L. Bresnahan, a single 
person 

114 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments

Michelle Leisey 112 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052

Estate of Neva Bean, Thomas 
Bean, as Executor 

8356 Hunter Brook 
Street

Las Vegas NV 89139-6826 No comments

Robert Pederson and Suzanne 
Mason-Pederson, a married 
couple, as joint tenants with right 
of survivorship 

108 Jay Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Rene McDermott 104 Jay Street Salix IA 51052 No comments
Kevin D. Alons & Ngu Alons, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship 

140 Gallands Street Salix IA 51052-8101 No comments

William C. Haase, Sr. and LuAnn 
M. Haase, as Trustee of the Joint 
Revocable Trust of William C. 
Haase, Sr. and LuAnn M. Haase 
dated March 23, 2021 

119 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Delbert J. Gehling and Judy A. 
Gehling, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

115 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052-8091 No comments 

Aaron Gehling and Emilee 
Gehling, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

111 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments 

132



Kelly Halladay and Michelle 
Halladay, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

107 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Jeff M. Mandicino and Sherri 
Spencer, both single persons, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

#12 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Lakeview Lane, Inc., an Iowa 
corporation 

#7 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Theresa M. Blackburn and Randy 
J. McCullough, Co-Trustees of 
Blackburn and McCullough Trust 

#11 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments

Jacqueline F. Stanfield #10 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments
Robert C. Birnie and Karel E. 
Birnie, husband and wife, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

#9 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Wade K. Brown and Sally J. 
Brown, as Trustees of the Joint 
Revocable Trust of Wade K. 
Brown and Sally J. Brown dated 
December 8, 2023 

#8 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Debra Joane Westbrook #22 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments
Michael C. Norgelas and Regina 
M. Norgelas, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full right of 
survivorship 

#21 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052-8106 No comments

Derek D. Stanfield and Heidi J. 
Stanfield, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

#20 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments

Allison L. Bader and Aaron M. 
Bader, wife and husband, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

#19 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Ashley Marie Konz and Logan S. 
Fischer, single people, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

#18 Lakeview Lane Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Kerry A. Abel and Judy K. Abel, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship 

1410 275th Street Salix IA 51052-8026 No comments 

Ryan Willis and Lisa Willis, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship 

131 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Christopher J. Case and Julie M. 
Case, husband and wife, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

137 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Lance R. Larson, a single person 141 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments
Clint M. Lamb and Emily S. Lamb, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship 

145 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Gaylen Lee Baker and Peggy 
Rose Baker, husband and wife 

146 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052-8108 No comments 

Jean L. Sathre and Steven L. 
Sathre, wife and husband, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

142 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Cassandra Lichtenberg and 
Donald Lichtenberg, wife and 
husband, as joint tenants with full 
right of survivorship 

138 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Larry J. Schopp and B. Jean 
Schopp, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

134 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Ryan D. Waite and Michelle Ann 
Waite, husband and wife, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

126 Nimrod Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Gehling Consulting, LLC 115 Bigelow Park Road Salix IA 51052 No comments
Steven M. Petersen and Kathleen 
M. Petersen, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full right of 
survivorship 

145 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052-8132 No comments

133



Donavan B. Thompson and 
Jennifer J. Thompson, husband 
and wife, as joint tenants with full 
rights of survivorship 

141 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Lynne M. Town, a single person 133 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments
Michael Duane Porter, as Trustee 
of the Revocable Living Trust of 
Michael Duane Porter dated 
February 10, 2015 

129 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Daniel B. Goodwin and Susan 
Goodwin, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

125 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Tyler J. Hubert aka Tyler Jared 
Hubert

121 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Joe Schwarte and Nowarat 
Schwarte, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

117 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Scott A. Van Eldik and Michelle E. 
Van Eldik, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

109 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Kevin R. Braun and Deborah K. 
Braun, husband and wife, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

108 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Brianna Jean Bates and Conner 
Steven Bates, husband and wife, 
a joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

110 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

David L. Wagner and Heather C. 
Wagner, husband and wife, as 
joint tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

114 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Todd Shilling and Machelle M. 
Shilling, husband and wife, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

118 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

FEE: Gerald S. Schneiders and 
Mary Lue Schneiders, husband 
and wife, as joint tenants with full 
rights of survivorship CP: 
Christopher S. Schneiders and 
Tammie R. Schneiders, husband 
and wife, as joint tenants with full 
rights of survivorship 

2607 Nicholas Blvd. 
#106

Sioux City IA 51106 No comments

CP: Christopher S. Schneiders 
and Tammie R. Schneiders, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants 
with full rights of survivorship

120 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Derek J. DeWitt, a single person 120 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments
Kirk D. Metcalf and Tammy L. 
Metcalf, husband and wife, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

126 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

Daniel E. Merrill and Lorie M. 
Merrill, husband and wife, as joint 
tenants with full rights of 
survivorship 

130 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments

John D. Roche and Susanne M. 
Roche, as Trustees for the John 
D. Roche and Susanne M. Roche 
Revocable Trust that was 
established on June 29, 2022 

138 Burdick Street Salix IA 51052 No comments 

Robert B. Ankerstjerne 1401 275th Street Salix IA 51052-8025 No comments
State of Iowa Property 
Management Section 

800 Lincoln Way Ames IA 50010 No comments 

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS
911 COMMUNICATIONS CENTER: No comments.
FIBERCOMM: No comments.
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (IDNR): No comments.
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT): No comments.
LOESS HILLS NATIONAL SCENIC BYWAY: No comments.
LOESS HILLS PROGRAM: No comments. 134



LONGLINES: No comments.
LUMEN: No comments.
MAGELLAN PIPELINE: No comments.
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Electrical Division): I have reviewed the following variance application for MEC electric, and we have no conflicts. Have a 

great week! – Casey Meinen, 6/16/25. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Gas Division): No comments.
NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICES (NRCS): No comments.
NORTHERN NATURAL GAS: No comments.
NORTHWEST IOWA POWER COOPERATIVE (NIPCO): No comments.
NUSTAR PIPELINE: No comments.
SIOUXLAND DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT: SEE EMAIL AND ASSOCIATED ATTACHMENTS BELOW FROM IVY BREMER, 6/16/25.
WIATEL: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY CONSERVATION: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY ENGINEER: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER: No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE (REC): No comments.
WOODBURY COUNTY SOIL AND WATER CONSERVATION 
DISTRICT: 

The WCSWCD has no comments regarding this variance. – Neil Stockfleth, 6/17/25.

WOODBURY COUNTY TREASURER: No comments.

135



136



137



PARCEL REPORT

138



PICTOMETRY IMAGERY

ELEVATION

139



COUNTY ZONING MAP

140



SOIL MAP

SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA)
The property is not located within the floodplain.

141



VARIANCE REGULATIONS FROM THE WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE (Pages 18-20)
1. Variances 

A. Authority.  The Board of Adjustment shall hear and decide on requests for a variance pursuant to 
subsection 2.01-5. D subject to the procedures, standards and conditions set out in this subsection 
and Section 335 of the Iowa Code. 

B. Purpose.  A variance is intended to provide necessary relief from the requirements of the zoning 
provisions of this title that would create unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties.   

C. Filing.   

(1) Right to seek variance.  A request for a zoning variance may be filed by any person aggrieved 
by a provision of the zoning ordinance that limits their intended use of property. 

(2) Form of application.  An application for a variance shall be submitted to the zoning director and 
shall include at least the following information:  

(a) The name and address of the property owner and the applicant;

(b) The address, if any, and the legal description of the property;

(c) The current zoning district classification;

(d) A specific description of the proposed variance including the section of this title from which 
a variance is requested;

(e) A map, drawn to scale, showing the subject property, all structures and other 
improvements, with the proposed variance identified;

(f) Statements in response to the criteria and standards for approval of variances in 
subsection 2.02-8. F (1) below. 

(3) Fee.  A filing fee, as established by resolution of the Board of Supervisors to defray 
administrative costs, shall accompany the notice of appeal.  

(4) A certified abstractor’s listing of the names and mailing addresses of all owners of real property 
lying adjacent to the subject property. 

D. Stay of Proceedings. A request for a variance appeal shall have the effect of a temporary suspension 
of enforcement of the provisions of these regulations that are the subject of the variance request until 
the conclusion of the variance process, unless the zoning director certifies that the suspension may 
cause imminent peril to life or property. 

E. Review and decision-making process.  

(1) Hearing required. The Board of Adjustment shall conduct a public hearing on the variance 
request in accordance with subsection 2.02-1. B. 

(2) Notification.  Public notification of the Board of Adjustment hearing on the variance request shall 
be as required by subsection 2.02-1. B(1).  Such notices shall provide information on the time, 
date and location of the hearing and a brief description of the requested variance. 

(3) Decision.  Within 10 days after the public hearing the Board of Adjustment shall approve, 
approve with conditions or limitations, or deny the requested variance.  The Board of 
Adjustment shall set forth findings of fact addressing the points enumerated in subsection 2.02-
8. F(1) below as a basis for its action.  

F. Requirements for variances:   

(1) In order to grant a variance, the Board of Adjustment must determine that: 

(a) Granting the variance will not be contrary to the public interest or the general intent and 
purpose of this title in that it: 

(i) Adversely impacts nearby properties;

(ii) Substantially increases congestion of people, buildings or traffic;

(iii) Endangers public health or safety;

142



(iv) Overburdens public facilities or services; or

(v) Impairs the enjoyment, use or value of nearby property. 

(b) Granting the variance is necessary to assure that the owner does not suffer an economic 
hardship.  (Note: Increased financial return or reduced costs to the applicant are not 
adequate cause for a finding of hardship.)  A finding of economic hardship must be based 
on each of the following: 

(i) The property cannot yield a reasonable return if used in compliance with the 
requirements of this title; 

(ii) The property has unique physical constraints that result in its inability to be used in 
compliance with the requirements of this title; and 

(iii) The hardship is not a result of actions by the owner.  

(2) No variance shall be granted which would permit the establishment of a use within a given 
district which is prohibited therein;

(3) No variance shall be granted which is so commonly recurring that it is a de facto amendment of 
this ordinance; and

(4) No variance shall be granted that is more than the minimum relief needed.  

(5) No variance shall be granted to the provisions of Section 5.03 relative to flood plain 
management requirements unless the Board of Adjustment considers the factors listed in 
subsection 5.03-9.C (4). 

G. Conditional approval of variances.  The Board of Adjustment may, as a condition related to approval of 
a variance, impose restrictions and safeguards upon the property and the variance granted if it 
determines the restrictions to be necessary to minimize adverse effects on other property or the public 
interest.  Such conditions shall be set forth in the resolution of the Board of Adjustment granting the 
variance.  Failure to comply with any conditions imposed on a variance approval is a violation of this 
title. 

H. Appeal of the actions of the Board of Adjustment.  Any interested party may appeal a variance 
decision of the Board of Adjustment in two ways. 

(1) If the Board of Adjustment approves a variance, the Board of Supervisors pursuant to Section 
335.10 of the Iowa Code may remand the matter to the Board of Adjustment for further 
consideration at any time within 30 days.   

(2) Any aggrieved party may appeal a decision of the Board of Adjustment within 30 days as 
provided by Section 335.18 of the Iowa Code.  Such an appeal suspends the effect of the action 
of the Board of Adjustment until the appeal has been resolved.  Any construction or cost 
incurred during the period subject to appeal is at the risk of the applicant. 

SEE THE STATE OF IOWA’S CHANGES TO THE VARIANCE REQUIREMENTS BELOW: 

143



144



145



146




